FILED Nov 19, 2015

Court of Áppeals Division III State of Washington

No. 33575-5-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHARLES COLE

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CHELAN COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

- 1. The State presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Cole of bail jumping on count two, where the State alleged he failed to appear "on or about October 15, 2014," and Mr. Cole appeared in court on October 16, 2014.
- 2. The trial court erred in sustaining the State's relevancy objection to Mr. Cole's proffered evidence of his many timely appearances in court to support his claim on count two that he did not knowingly fail to appear and his claim on count three that uncontrollable circumstances prevented his appearance.
- 3. During closing arguments, the prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing facts not in evidence, and the trial court erred in prohibiting Mr. Cole from explaining that "beyond a reasonable doubt" is a higher standard of proof than the standards applied in civil cases.
 - 4. Cumulative error deprived Mr. Cole of a fair trial.
- 5. RCW 69.50.4013 violates the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, both facially and as applied, because it permits the State to convict a person of a felony drug crime without proving a culpable mental state.
- 6. RCW 9A.76.170 violates the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, both facially and as

applied, because it permits the State to convict a person of felony bail jumping without proving a culpable mental state.

7. In the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in finding that Mr. Cole has the ability to pay \$1,850 in legal financial obligations, where Mr. Cole qualifies for court-appointed counsel, is indigent under the standards of GR 34, buys his clothes from Goodwill, and makes money by selling firewood while living out of his car.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Cole is a military veteran who was honorably discharged after serving in the Gulf War. RP 219. He lives on Badger Mountain, and recovers timber to make money. RP 220-21. He sells the wood in Chelan, Wenatchee, and Leavenworth, and lives out of his truck when doing so. RP 221. Although he is 47 years old, he had never been convicted of a felony prior to this case. CP 54-55.

On June 23, 2014, Mr. Cole was working in Wenatchee. RP 221. He took a shower at an acquaintance's home, then walked toward Goodwill, where he was planning to meet his wife. RP 222-23. Police Officer Brian Miller saw Mr. Cole and stopped him because there was a misdemeanor warrant for his arrest. CP 1; RP 108-09. After arresting Mr. Cole, Officer Miller searched him and also searched a pair of shorts he was carrying. RP 110. Inside the shorts, Officer Miller found a glass pipe

with some residue that was later determined to be methamphetamine. RP 111-13, 140-43.

There was such a small quantity of drugs in the pipe that the forensic scientist had to "scrape" it out in order to test it and could not "get a weight" on it even though the lab has very sensitive scales. RP 143-47. The State nevertheless charged Mr. Cole with felony drug possession in violation of RCW 69.50.4013(1). CP 2-3.

Although frequent travel to Wenatchee was cumbersome for him, Mr. Cole dutifully attended numerous court hearings. Supp. CP __ - __ (sub#s 122, 120, 114, 112, 110, 108, 107, 101, 93, 91, 86, 83, 77, 70, 52, 35, 33, 28, 25, 24, 17, 11, 4) (minutes show Mr. Cole appeared in court on 23 different dates before trial began). Mr. Cole missed only two dates: October 15, 2014, and December 1, 2014. RP 160, 190. He explained that he thought a subsequent notice of hearing for October 16, 2014, replaced the earlier notice of an October 15 hearing. RP 227-28; exs. 8, 21. His lawyer confirmed that Mr. Cole was indeed in the courthouse on October 16, and was confused about why his hearing on that date had been stricken from the calendar. RP 205-06, 218, 230-31. Mr. Cole appeared in court for another hearing on October 20, 2014. RP 197, 208, 232; ex. 23.

As to the December 1, 2014 hearing, Mr. Cole explained that his car slid off the road when he was on his way down the mountain. RP 232-33, 245. He contacted his lawyer shortly after the accident, and he appeared in court on December 3, 2014, which was the next available court date. RP 210, 233.

Despite the fact that Mr. Cole attended 23 pretrial hearings and explained why he missed two dates, the State moved to amend the information to add two counts of felony bail jumping. CP 4-5, 15-20, 27-29. Mr. Cole's attorney withdrew, and new attorney was appointed to represent him. RP 2-3.

At trial, Mr. Cole testified that the shorts he was carrying on June 23, 2014 were not his, and that he did not know there was a pipe inside them. RP 222-25. Officer Miller, in contrast, testified that Mr. Cole "admitted" to him that the pipe was his during a brief conversation following arrest. RP 114. Mr. Cole's attorney told the jury that it should believe Mr. Cole's account, but that even if they believed the pipe belonged to Mr. Cole, Mr. Cole did not know there were *drugs* in the pipe and therefore he was not guilty of drug possession. RP 308-13.

The jury was not instructed that the State had to prove knowing possession beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 39. Instead, the court

instructed the jury that Mr. Cole bore the burden of proving "unwitting possession" by a preponderance of the evidence. CP 42.

With respect to the bail jumping charges, Mr. Cole sought to introduce evidence of the 23 times he appeared in court for pretrial hearings, to support his defense that he did not knowingly and intentionally fail to appear on the two dates he missed. RP 234-35. The State objected on relevancy grounds, and the court sustained the objection. RP 234-35.

With respect to the charge on count two, Mr. Cole explained to the jury that he thought the notice for the October 16 hearing replaced the earlier notice of hearing for October 15, and he did not know he had to appear on both dates. Mr. Cole's former attorney testified and confirmed that Mr. Cole appeared in court on October 16, 2014. RP 205. Witnesses for both the State and the defense testified that Mr. Cole appeared in court yet again on October 20, 2014. RP 197, 208, 232; ex. 23. The prosecutor told the jury that none of this mattered, and that Mr. Cole was guilty because he failed to appear on October 15. RP 296, 326.

With respect to the bail jumping charge on count three, Mr. Cole testified that he was in a car accident on the way down from the mountain on December 1. RP 232-33. His former lawyer confirmed that this is what Mr. Cole told him as well, and that Mr. Cole appeared on the next

available court date, which was December 3. RP 210, 245. The prosecutor told the jurors that Mr. Cole was not credible, and that they should not believe he was in an accident. RP 319-20.

Because the proffered evidence had been excluded, defense counsel was unable to tell the jurors that they should believe Mr. Cole because he was a trustworthy person who appeared in court on 23 other occasions. The jury was instructed that Mr. Cole bore the burden of proving "uncontrollable circumstances" prevented his appearance on December 1. CP 47. The prosecutor told the jury that even if Mr. Cole was in an accident, he could not avail himself of this defense because he recklessly contributed to the accident by living in the mountains without using chains or studded tires. RP 299-300. The prosecutor made this argument despite the fact that no evidence had been presented that Mr. Cole's truck was not properly equipped for winter driving. RP 105-247.

During the defense closing argument, Mr. Cole's attorney tried to explain the presumption of innocence and the heavy burden the State bore to prove each charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Counsel started to compare that burden with the civil burdens of preponderance of the evidence and clear and convincing evidence – a comparison that he, like most defense lawyers, had made to juries countless times. But the prosecutor objected and the court sustained the objection, disallowing

counsel from emphasizing the relatively high standard of proof that applied to the case. RP 306-08.

The jury convicted Mr. Cole on all three counts. RP 135-37. At sentencing, the court imposed \$1,850 in legal financial obligations. CP 59. The court justified this order with the single statement: "You previously testified that you work, collecting firewood, and have a job selling that and so the court believes that in fact you can make payments on these financial obligations and have this paid off over time." RP 347.

Mr. Cole appeals. CP 67-81.

C. ARGUMENT

- 1. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove bail jumping as charged in count two beyond a reasonable doubt.
 - a. <u>Due Process requires the State to prove every</u> element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The beyond a reasonable doubt standard is designed to impress "upon the factfinder the need to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970). It

"symbolizes the significance that our society attaches to the criminal sanction and thus to liberty itself." *Id*.

A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; *City of Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). On appellate review, evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 318; *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn. 2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

b. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Cole failed to appear on or about October 15, 2014, as required to support a conviction on count two.

The State charged Mr. Cole with bail jumping on count two, alleging:

On or about the 15th day of October, 2014, in Chelan County, State of Washington, the defendant did then and there unlawfully and feloniously, after having been charged in the above cause number with unlawful possession of a controlled substance: methamphetamine, a class C felony, and after having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before the Chelan County Superior Court, a court of the State of Washington, did fail to appear as required; contrary to the form of the statute RCW 9A.76.170(1) and (3)(c) in such cases made and provided

and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 28.

Consistent with the information, the "to convict" instruction listed the following elements that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about the 15th day of October, 2014, the defendant failed to appear before a court;
- (2) That the defendant was charged with possession of a controlled substance-methamphetamine;
- (3) That the defendant had been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before that court; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 44.

"[E]lements in the 'to convict' instruction not objected to become the 'law of the case' which the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt to prevail." *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 99, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). Thus, the State was required to prove that Mr. Cole did not appear in court "on or about" October 15th. CP 44. This the State failed to prove, as there is no dispute that Mr. Cole appeared in court on October 16, which is "on or about" October 15. RP 205-06, 218, 227-31; *see State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn. App. 425, 432, 914 P.2d 788 (1996) (holding that June 4 was "on or about" May 31 for purposes of a sufficiency of the evidence

challenge). Because the State failed to prove that Mr. Cole did not appear in court on or about October 15, reversal is required. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 103.

c. The remedy is reversal of the conviction on count two, and remand for dismissal of the charge with prejudice.

"Retrial following reversal for insufficient evidence is unequivocally prohibited' and dismissal is the remedy." *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 103 (quoting *State v. Hardesty*, 129 Wn.2d 303, 309, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996)). Mr. Cole accordingly asks this Court to reverse the conviction on count two, and remand for dismissal of the charge with prejudice.

- 2. Mr. Cole was deprived of a fair trial because the court improperly excluded relevant evidence and limited his closing argument, and the State committed misconduct in closing argument.
 - a. The trial court erred in sustaining the State's relevancy objection to Mr. Cole's proffered evidence of the many times he appeared for court hearings.

"All relevant evidence is admissible," unless prohibited by other rules. ER 402. "Relevant evidence" means "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would

be without the evidence." ER 401. "The threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low. Even minimally relevant evidence is admissible." *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn. 2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002).

In light of the above rules, there is no question that the trial court erred in sustaining the State's relevancy objection to Mr. Cole's proffered evidence. Mr. Cole sought to introduce evidence of the 23 times he had been to court as ordered, to show that he did not knowingly or intentionally fail to appear on October 15 and December 1. RP 234. The trial court, however, excluded this critical testimony:

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: This case has been pending for almost a year. How many times have you been to court on this case?

[PROSECUTOR]: Objection, relevance.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, it is relevant because it goes to whether or not he had knowledge and intentionally missed a court date or whether or not he wasn't able to make it to court on December 1st.

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

RP 234. This ruling was error, because "when a defendant asserts that certain conduct is accidental, evidence of prior []conduct is *highly* relevant as it will tend to support or rebut such a claim. *State v. Olsen*, 175 Wn. App. 269, 282, 309 P.3d 518 (2013) (endorsing admission of prior

misconduct to show knowledge and intent and to rebut claim of mistake or accident) (emphasis in original).

Furthermore, credibility was a key issue at trial on all three counts. Mr. Cole testified that (1) he did not knowingly possess drugs; (2) he thought the October 16 court date was in lieu of, not in addition to, the October 15 court date; and (3) he slid off the road when driving down the mountain for the December 1 court hearing. The prosecutor repeatedly told the jury that it should not believe Mr. Cole because Mr. Cole was not credible:

So what's more reasonable to believe? Fully, fairly, carefully considering all the evidence and the credibility. You folks, you're here. We talked a lot about this in voir dire. Are you comfortable weighing someone's credibility, someone's honesty, someone's trustworthiness? Are you comfortable weighing that? Does Mr. Cole's story makes sense?

RP 302; *see also* RP 303-04. Although the prosecutor exhorted the jury to evaluate Mr. Cole's "trustworthiness," RP 302, he objected to Mr. Cole's attempt to present evidence of his trustworthiness. RP 234. The fact that trustworthiness was such a hotly contested issue demonstrates that the court's exclusion of the evidence was both erroneous and prejudicial. *See City of Seattle v. Personeus*, 63 Wn. App. 461, 465, 819 P.2d 821 (1991) (reversing for erroneous exclusion of evidence and explaining that such error is not harmless unless, within reasonable probabilities, the error did

not affect the result of the trial). This court should accordingly reverse the convictions and remand for a new trial.¹

b. The trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to Mr. Cole's discussion of relative burdens of proof in closing argument.

Not only did the court wrongly sustain the State's relevancy objection to Mr. Cole's proffered evidence, it also wrongly sustained the State's objection to his closing argument.

Mr. Cole emphasized to the jury that the State bore the burden of proving the elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 306-07. Defense counsel began to explain the fact that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard is "the highest standard of proof that we have in the law." RP 307. But when counsel correctly described the preponderance standard as "more likely than not," the prosecutor inexplicably objected. RP 307. The court momentarily overruled the objection, but the prosecutor immediately objected again when defense counsel then moved on to explain the "clear and convincing standard." RP 307-08.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And so that's preponderance of the evidence. The next level of proof that we have in the law is called clear and convincing proof.

¹ If this Court agrees with Mr. Cole's first argument, count two must be dismissed and retrial is permitted only on the other counts.

[PROSECUTOR]: Objection, Your Honor. Argument is outside of the instructions. There's been - - I know where this argument is going. I've heard it before. I don't think it's proper argument to make in a criminal matter, Your Honor.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: And I've made this argument probably in every jury trial I've had for the last eight years.

THE COURT: That objection is sustained.

RP 307-08.

The trial court erred in sustaining the prosecutor's objection to Mr. Cole's proper closing argument. Closing argument is the "last clear chance to persuade the trier of fact that there may be reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt." *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 862, 95 S.Ct. 2550, 45 L.Ed.2d 593 (1975). Thus, defense counsel must be afforded "the utmost freedom in the argument of the case." *State v. Perez-Cervantes*, 141 Wn.2d 468, 474, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). Certainly, he must be permitted to make accurate statements of law. *Cf. State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 454, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (holding prosecutor's closing argument discussing burden of proof was proper, "particularly given the latitude that a prosecutor has in arguing from the evidence during closing argument.").

The court itself tells jurors about the different standards of proof applicable to civil and criminal cases. *See* Washington Practice Series,

Washington Pattern Jury Instructions – Criminal, Appendix A. Jurors' Handbook to Washington Courts. The Jurors' Handbook describes the "kinds of cases" jurors may sit on, and emphasizes the "BURDEN OF PROOF" applicable to each. *Id.* at 4-5 (all-caps in original). The handbook reads:

In most civil cases the plaintiff's burden is to prove the case by a PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE, that is, that the plaintiff's version of what happened in the case is more probably true than not true.

Id. at 5 (all-caps in original). The handbook contrasts this burden with that applicable in a criminal case:

The plaintiff's burden of proof is greater in a criminal case than in a civil case. In each criminal case you hear the judge will tell you all the elements of the crime that the plaintiff must prove; the plaintiff must prove each of these elements BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT before the defendant can be found guilty.

Id. (all-caps in original).

Mr. Cole was simply attempting to convey the same legally correct information to the jury in closing argument. The trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to this proper argument.

c. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by arguing facts not in evidence.

The prosecutor, in contrast, made improper statements during closing argument. He argued that Mr. Cole could not avail himself of the

"uncontrollable circumstances" defense with respect to the December 1st accident because he "recklessly contribute[d] to it." RP 300. He said:

Let's think about Badger Mountain and living on a mountain in December. Let's think about that. You're living on top of a mountain and it's winter. Do you need to take steps to live on a mountain? If you live on a mountain, do you need to know how to live on a mountain? Do you need to know that between November 1st and March 31st, you might want to put some studs on your car if you live on a mountain and you know what a mountain is, you know that the weather on top of a mountain might actually be worse than weather down in the valley, that if you have a court hearing, maybe you should get some chains on your car, maybe you should work on your car, maybe get your car prepped.

RP 300. The prosecutor said all of this despite the fact that there was no evidence that Mr. Cole's truck was not properly equipped for winter. RP 315-16.

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