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

bring up the clear, cogent, and convincing burden of proof. RP 307

08. The burden of proof that applies and what that burden means is

a matter of law-not fact. Accordingly, the court's limitation was

not subject to the wide latitude that it is supposed to give counsel

when arguing the facts and how those facts fit the defendant's theory

of the case. To the contrary, the cases previously cited

unequivocally state that both the prosecution and the defense must

confine their argument to the law as set forth in the instructions.

In this case, Mr. Cole did not request an instruction defining

"clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." Accordingly, Mr. Cole's

attempt to discuss and define that intermediate burden of proof did

not comply with the requirement to confine his arguments about the

law to the instructions of the court.

Mr. Cole tries to say that the jurors had some inkling about

this intermediate burden of proof because of what is written in the

Jurors' Handbook to Washington Courts. 1bis argument fails (I)

because the handbook is not a part of the court's instructions to the
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jury, (2) because there is no evidence that the jurors even received or

read the handbook, and (3) because the handbook does not mention

the intermediate burden of proof.

Assuming, arguendo, that the trial court abused its discretion,

this Court should hold the error harmless. "This court has adopted

the overwhelming untainted evidence test as the proper standard for

harmless error analysis in Washington." Frost, 160 Wn.2d at 782

(citations and quotations omitted). "Under the overwhelming

untainted evidence test, the appellate court looks only at the

untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so

overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." ld. "A

finding of harmless error requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt

that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the

absence of the error." ld. "Here, the trial court's action did not taint

the evidence before the jury in any way, as counsel's argument is not

evidence." Id. (emphasis added). "The fact the jury was properly

instructed on the State's burden of proof in general ... supports the

conclusion that the trial court's error was harmless." ld. at 371.

Because the harmless error analysis from Frost unequivocally
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applies to this case, this Court cannot say that the outcome of the

trial could have been different had counsel been able to discuss the

non-instructed intermediate burden of proof; this is especially so

considering that the court's instructions on the law were accurate

and counsel was able to argue his entire theory of the case without

discussing the irrelevant and non-applicable intermediate burden of

proof. See generally RP 305-319 (defense counsel's closing

argument).

Because the trial court did not err, this Court should affirm

Mr. Cole's convictions. If the trial court did err, this Court should

hold the error harmless.

4. The State did not err in closing argument by pointing out
a lack of facts that a reasonable juror might want to
consider when deciding whether the defendant had met
his burden of proof with regard to his affirmative defense.

"A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the

burden of establishing the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney's

comments and their prejudicial effect." State v. Corbett, 158 Wn.

App. 576, 594, 242 P.3d 52 (2010). "In determining whether

prosecutorial misconduct occurred, we first evaluate whether the

prosecuting attorney's comments were improper." Id. "If the
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prosecuting attorncy's statements were improper, and the defendant

made a proper objection to the statements, then we consider whether

the statements prejudiced thc jury." Id. "Prejudice is established

only where there is a substantial likelihood the instance of

misconduct affected the jury's verdict." Id.

"Absent a proper objection and a request for a curative

instruction, the defense waives a prosecutorial misconduct claim

unless the comment was so flagrant or ill-intentioned that an

instruction could not have cured the prejudice." ld. "We review a

prosecutor's allegedly improper comments in the context of the total

argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the

argument, and the jury instructions given." Id. "A prosecutor has

wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences

from the evidence and to express such inferences to the jury." ld. at

595.

Here, trial counsel did not object to the portion of the State's

closing argument, which Mr. Cole now challenges for the first time

on appeal. Accordingly, Mr. Cole must establish that any

prosecutorial error was both "flagrant and ill-intentioned" and



prejudicial. Because Mr. Cole does not cite to the proper legal

standard and does not make any argument from the proper legal

standard, he fails to sustain his burden on appeal. Accordingly, this

Court should decline to review the claimed error. Alexander v.

Gonser, 42 Wn. App. 234, 236 fn. 2, 711 P.2d 347 (1983) ("A

reviewing eourt will not consider an issue in the absence of

argument and citation of authority."), citing Transamerica Ins.

Group v. United Pac. Ins. Co., 92 Wn.2d 21, 29, 593 P.2d 156

( 1979).

In the event that this Court does review the issue, this Court

cannot say that the State erred. "[I]n the context of the total

argument," the challenged portion relates only to Mr. Cole's burden

of proving his affirmative defense by a preponderance of the

evidence; by raising this particular affirmative defense, Mr. Cole had

the burden of proving that he did not recklessly contribute to his

non-appearance. RCW 9A.76.170(2). Reviewing the State's

argument as a whole, including the rebuttal argument, it is clear that

what the State was doing was pointing out evidence that a reasonable

juror might have wanted hear about when weighing whether Mr.
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Cole had satisfied his burden ofproofwith regard to proving that he

did not recklessly contribute to his nonappearance. RP 300-0 I, 319-

20.

Even when the defendant does not have a burden of proof,

case law still clearly permits the State to point out holes in the

defendant's theory of the case:

While defendants are not obligated to produce any
evidence, a prosecutor is allowed to comment on a
defendant's failure to support her own factual theories:
'When a defendant advances a theory exculpating
[her], the theory is not immunized from attack. On the
contrary, the evidence supporting a defendant's theory
of the case is subject to the same searching
examination as the State's evidence.'

State v. Vassar, 188 Wn. App. 251, 260, 352 P.3d 856 (2015),

quoting State v. Contreras, 57 Wn. App. 471, 476, 788 P.2d 1114

(1990). This holds truer in this case where the defendant actually

did have a burden of producing evidence to support his affirmative

defense.

Finally, in the event that any error occurred, Mr. Cole cannot

satisfy his burden of proving prejudice. Defense counsel and the

jury instructions both reminded the jury that the attorneys' closing

arguments were not evidence and to disregard any argument not
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supported by the facts admitted into evidence. RP 305-06; CP 32

(Instruction I). Furthermore, no prejudice can be established

because the challenged portion of the State's argument was

conditional on the jury believing Mr. Cole. RP 301. The State's

overall argument was that Mr. Cole could not establish his

affirmative defense because it was predicated on lies he told to the

jury. RP 301-04. Reviewing the result of this trial, this Court can

easily infer that the jury did not believe a word Mr. Cole said. Had

they done so, they would have acquitted on the meth charge based

on the affirmative defense of unwitting possession.

Because Mr. Cole has not properly raised this issue before

this Court, because the State's argument was not flagrant and ill

intentioned, and because the State's argument did not prejudice Mr.

Cole in any way, this court should affirm Mr. Cole's conviction on

Count III.

5. Mr. Cole has failed to prove that the crimes of bail
jumping and unlawful possession of a controlled
substance violate constitutional due process requirements,
either facially, or as applied.
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This court generally reviews constitutional errors, including

violations of a defendant's due process) rights, de novo. Wash.

Independent Telephone Ass 'n v. Wash. Utilities and Transp. Com '11,

149 Wn.2d 17,24,65 P.3d 319 (2003) (holding that an alleged

denial of due process is reviewed de novo); State v. Cantu, 156

Wn.2d 819, 831, 132 P.3d 725 (2006) (same).

Although Mr. Cole did not challenge the constitutionality of

these statutes below, he may do so for the first time on appeal. State

v. Rice, 174 Wn.2d 884, 893, 279 P.3d 849 (2012). However, Mr.

Cole bears a heavy burden with regard to trying to strike down these

statutes: "A statute is presumed constitutional and the party

challenging the constitutionality of a legislative enactment has the

burden of proving [its unconstitutionality]." State v. Maciolek, 101

Wn.2d 259, 263, 676 P.2d 996 (1984).

With regard to the crime of unlawful possession of a

controlled substance, Mr. Cole argues that the Constitution requires

) Mr. Cole raises his argument under both the Fourteenth
Amendment and Washington's Article I, § 3. Washington, however,
interprets its due process clause in lock-step with the due process
clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. McCormick, 166
Wn.2d 689,699,213 P.3d 32 (2009).
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imposition of a mens rea element. However, Mr. Cole ignores the

fact that the Washington State Supreme Court has unequivocally

held that neither knowledge, nor intent, are required elements of the

erime of simple possession. State v. Cleppe, 96 Wn.2d 373, 378,

635 P.2d 435 (1981); State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 530,98

P.3d 1190 (2004) (reaffirming Cleppe). Notably, when the Supreme

Court reaffirmed Cleppe in Bradshaw, it did so in spite of a claim

similar to the one here that the possession statute unconstitutionally

shifted the burden of proof to the defendant. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d

at 534, 537-38. Unless and until the Supreme Court changes its

opinion, this Court is bound to uphold the law as it has existed for

more than thirty years. State v. Gore, 101 Wn.2d 481, 486-487, 681

P.2d 227 (1984); 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158

Wn.2d 566, 590, 146 P3d 423 (2006).

Putting aside Cleppe and Bradshaw, Mr. Cole also turns a

blind eye to over 90 years of United States Supreme Court

precedent. Most importantly, Mr. Cole ignores the case of United

States v. Balint, 258 U.S. 250, 42 S.Ct. 301, 66 L.Ed. 604 (1922). In

Balint, the Supreme Court had to decide whether the Narcotic Act of
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1914 was unconstitutional bccause it did not require proof that the

defendant knew the substance he had was an inhibited drug. Balint,

258 U.S. at 251. Writing for the unanimous Court, Chief Justice

Taft hcld:

Its manifest purpose is to require every person dealing
in drugs to ascertain at his peril whether that which he
sells comes within the inhibition of the statute, and if
he sells the inhibited drug in ignorance of its character,
to penalize him. Congress weighed the possible
injustice of subjecting an innocent seller to a penalty
against the evil of exposing innocent purchasers to
danger from the drug, and concluded that the latter was
the result preferable to be avoided. Doubtless
considerations as to the opportunity of the seller to find
out the fact and the difficulty of proof of knowledge
contributed to this conclusion. We think the demurrer
to the indictment should have been overruled.

Id. at 254. Thirty years later, the Supreme Court took up the issue

again in Morissette and both reaffirmed and distinguished Balint

based on the character of the crimes at issue as either traditional

common law crimes requiring a mens rea or modem statutory crimes

that do not require a mens rea in cvery circumstance. Morissette v.

United States, 342 U.S. 246, 260, 96 L. Ed. 288, 72 S. Ct. 240

(1952) ("The conclusion reached in the Balint and Behrman cases
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has our approval and adherence for the circumstances to which it

was there applied.").

Because Mr. Cole failed to even cite Cleppe, Bradshaw,

Balint, and Morissette and explain how a now overruled U.S.

District Court case in Florida can overrule decades of case law from

the Washington State Supreme Court and the United States Supreme

Court, this Court cannot say that Mr. Cole has satisfied his burden of

proving RCW 69.50.401 unconstitutional beyond a reasonable

doubt. Accordingly, this Court should decline to review Mr. Cole's

claimed error as not adequately briefed and as not within this Court's

purview under Gore. See also In re Rights to Waters of Stranger

Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970) (The Supreme

Court will abandon precedent only if it is clearly shown to be

incorrect and harmful.).

If this Court does review the issue, it should adhere to the

precedent established by Division II latc last year in State v.

Schmeling, No. 46218-4-11, slip op. at 5-7 (2015) (holding that RCW

69.50.4013 does not violate due process by not requiring a culpablc

mental state).
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Regarding the crime of bail jumping, Mr. Cole argues that it

too violates due process principles because it punishes an

unintentional failure to appear in court. Despite Mr. Cole's claims,

the crimes of bail jumping and simple possession are not similarly

situated. Unlike possession, bail jumping is not a strict liability

crime. A mens rea clement already exists, requiring the State to

prove that the defendant knew or should have known about his court

date: "the State must prove [that the defendant] was given notice of

his court date." Carver, 122 Wn. App. at 306; RCW 9A.76.170(l)

("with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal

appearance"). Given that there is already a mens rea element, Mr.

Cole's argument in the preceding portions of his brief has no

applicability to the question here of whether the State should instead

be required to prove guilty intent, as opposed to guilty knowledge.

Given that Mr. Cole fails to cite to any authority or make any

argument as to under what circumstances due process requires

intent, as opposed to merely knowledge, this Court should decline to

review his argument as another naked casting into the constitutional

sea. In re Rosier, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986)
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("[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to

command judicial consideration and discussion.").

Finally, Mr. Cole argues that the bail jumping statute violates

due process principles because the affirmative defense requires him

to negate an element of the crime, meaning that it requires the

defendant to prove his innocence. If that were true, the bail jumping

convictions would have to be reversed. State v. WR., 181 Wn.2d

757, 762, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) ("when a defense necessarily

negates an element of an offense, it is not a true affirmative defense,

and the legislature may not allocate to the defendant the burden of

proving the defense") (emphasis in original). However, Mr. Cole

fails to identify or explain whieh particular element of RCW

9A.76.170(1) is negated by RCW 9A.76.170(2).

Moreover, a plain reading of the two unambiguous

subsections shows that Mr. Cole is wrong. Bail jumping requires

proof that the defendant (1) was admitted to bail or personal

recognizance, (2) had knowledge of a requirement of a subsequent

personal appearance, and (3) failed to appear as required. RCW

9A.76.170(1). On the other end, the affirmative defense requires
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proof (1) of an uncontrollable circumstance that prevented the

appcarance and (2) the defendant did not recklessly create/contribute

to the uncontrollable circumstance. RCW 9A.76.l70(2). Even if

uncontrollable circumstances prevented Mr. Cole from appearing,

the fact is that he still failed to appear, he still had knowledge of a

subsequent personal appearance, and he was still admitted to

bail/personal recognizance-said another way, none of the elements

of bail jumping are negated by proof of the affirmative defense's

clements. There is simply nothing in RCW 9A.76.170(2) that would

require Mr. Cole to disprove any element of RCW 9A.76.170(l).

All that RCW 9A.76.170(2) does is excuse conduct that would

otherwise be punishable, which has, time and again, been held to not

violate due process principles. W.R., 181 Wn.2d at 762.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm Mr. Cole's convictions.

6. The sentencing court had ample evidence from which to
find that Mr. Cole had the likely future ability to pay
discretionary legal financial obligations.

Finally, Mr. Cole challenges the imposition of discretionary

LFOs by the sentencing court. The court should decline to review

this issue because trial counsel failed to preserve the issue for appeal
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by not objecting to the imposition of the discretionary LFOs. RP

347 (court's imposition of LFOs); RAP 2.5(a).

1f the Court chooses to review this issue, the Court should be

aware that only $1,050 of the $1,850 in LFOs imposed by the court

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